STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

RECEIVED  
JUN 08 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

Hon. George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No: 2015-002481

---

Charles Taylor,..... Appellant

v.

Stop "N" Save, Inc., d/b/a,  
El Cheapo Plus #7 and Roy Rahal,..... Respondents

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

CHARLES TAYLOR, APPELLANT  
332 MYRTLE BEACH HIGHWAY  
SUMTER SOUTH CAROLINA 29153  
(803) 609-7990-UGCARDS@AOL.COM  
FOR THE APPELLANT PRO SE

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Sec: 1 of 6: Did the court err to deny Appellant's summary motion on his vicarious liability gross negligence claim against Respondents? p. 4-8
- Sec: 2 of 6: Did the court err to deny Appellant's summary motion on his vicarious liability IIED claim against Respondents? p. 9-14
- Sec: 3 of 6: Did the court err to grant Respondents' summary motion? p. 14-28
- Sec: 4 of 6: Did the court err to deny Appellant's R.11 & SC Sec. 15-36-10 sanctions motion? p. 28-34
- Sec: 5 of 6: Did the court err to deny Appellant's rule 15(b-c) motions? p. 34-38
- Sec: 6 of 6: Did the court err to hold in abeyance Respondents' motion seeking to sanction Appellant for exercising his right to bring and litigate this instant case? p. 38-39

### Section 3-E: NOVEL QUESTION OF LAW FOR COURT INTERPRETATION-*GRAVES AMENDMENT* p.15

## FACTUAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. That prior to 5-1-13 Appellant moved out of his house at 334 Myrtle Bch Hwy Sumter County, South Carolina 29153, and moved into the 1 room mini unit-332 Myrtle Bch Hwy Sumter County, South Carolina 29153, (R. p. 40); and;
2. That was done in order to rent the house to supplement Appellant's disability income (R. p. 47) to be able to afford a variety of health, and indeed, lifesaving medications, that disable Appellant, (**must have**), on a regular basis & in a timely manner etc., to prevent a host of health & life threatening, illnesses & complications etc., and to help pay other bills, including property mortgage, etc.; and;
3. That on or about, 5-1-12, a Reginald Morton & Dana Goins with Odell Morton, living for years on Plowden Mill Road in Sumter County S. C. prior to 5-1-12 (Aff'd: R. p. 1176 para. #1) wanted to rent the house, but when Apln't asked them for valid I.D., Reginald Morton & Dana Goins, said they had none at that time & Apln't being suspicious, refused to rent his house to them; but;

4. That being disable himself--Apln't felt sorry for & could relate to disable almost 80 yr old prostate cancer surgery, knee replacements, heart pacemaker, etc. (helpless) Odell Morton (as examp: R. p. 916 & 1176-7 & p. 999 L 22-24) & reluctantly rented house to them--notwithstanding the fact he-Odell Morton too, said he had no facially valid driv.'s license (Aff'd: R. p. 1176 para. #5) other than (R. p. 36 3<sup>rd</sup> 1), but all that notwithstanding, Apln't rented them the house anyway, for the reasons stated, &;

5. That proved to be a big mistake & eventually led to Apln't having to have them evicted by the Hon. Magistrate Judge Kristy F. Curtis, for Reginald Morton's drug dealing & illegal gun running, from the house that Apln't rented to them, & for non-rent payment, (R. p. 37); (by which time Reginald Morton & Dana Goins had obtain SC check cashing ID's (R. p. 36 1<sup>st</sup> & 2<sup>nd</sup>)) &;

6. **That on 6-1-13;** Respondent-Palestinian/Jordanian/Syrian Roy Rahal; the manager of Resp'd Stop "N" Save, Inc., d/b/a, El Cheapo Plus #7-owned by Palestinian/Iraqi/Syrian Zaher Mohammad; all truck rental agents via their store, of U-Haul trucks (R. pp. 137-145); got together with, & rented a U-Haul truck to Reginald Morton intentionally with no driver's license; & knowing he had none (R. p. 210 L. 3-5 & R. p. 211 L. 13-15) & then oversaw him in the forge-signing of Odell Morton's name on the (3) U-Haul truck rental documents; (1).the rental contract; (2).the u-haul equipment damage responsibility requirement; & (3).the R & D Tag; (R. pp. 919-927 signature sec.; & R. pp. 290-291) & in a drug deal (R. p. 953 mid'l & R. p. 1165 para. #7); (**NOTE: copy Odell Morton signature on p. 1179**) &;

7. That he--Reginald Morton--was just fresh out of jail--a month or so--on bail for having committed yet another crime (R. p. 950), then came---because he was seething mad & looking for revenge because Appellant had them evicted by Judge Curtis as stated in para. number 5 above; &;

8. That Reginald Morton came with his illegally rented U-Haul truck 6-1-13 to move, (high up on marijuana pot/drugs etc)(R. p. 1173 para. 1<sup>st</sup> & R. p. 1165 para. #7) & intentionally tried to destroy Aplnt's house (R. pp. 41-43 & p. 1166) which damages ended Aplnt's \$650mt rental income (aff'd: R. p. 1172) &

9. That as a result--Appellant could not get his--must have--medications et al. para 2 p.1 above, & (R. p. 31 para. #28-29) on a regular basis & in a timely manner, when/if at all; & these are just some of the variety of resulting damages but not limited thereto, to-date--Apln't suffered, suffers & will suffer until his death-(& Respd's were aware: R. pp. 928-943; 963-987; 1184-1201; & p. 1208) &;

10. That the house foundation ultimately collapsed & must be bulldoze & hauled to landfill (R. pp. 1169-1172) from damages cause by Reginald Morton w/U-haul truck on (6-1-13 at which time) Reginald Morton committed the INITIAL IIED on Apln't (Affd's: R. p. 1165 & 1173 & 1174) &;

11. That the foregoing is the gist of Aplnt's jury trial requested 6/9/14 amended complaint for (1).Gross Negligence for-property-house-emotional-damages &, (2).IIED damages; vicariously brought against--Respd's Stop "N" Save, Inc., d/b/a, EL Cheapo Plus #7, & Roy Rahal, for their knowingly renting Reginald Morton a U-Haul truck w/no driver's license etc. (R. pp. 210-211); AFTER--they refuse--from beginning to present--demands for damages compensation by Appellant; (& that no one have seen the face yet of Zaher Mohammad, the owner of the operation, & neither he nor Rahal (except for 1, 3 hr. forced Rahal deposition outside of court) have ever appeared in court; while being sued for millions of dollars in this over 2yrs old case as of summary hearing date 10-14-15; the significance of which will become clearer later on down in argument sec. #5 of 6 p.34-35 below); &;

12. The case ended on summary rulings to Respd's & denial of Aplnt's summary motion because, among other things, Respd's / Roy Rahal's--formal judicial admissions signed by their

counsels (1st one: R. p. 34) they were allowed to *in effect*-change their *judicial admissions* at summary, to change the outcome for summary on (rulings-being appealed in Order: R. pp. 5-25); & that it was prejudicial & reversible court err, to allow such change-s, Apln't argues *below*, among other things, **because**, formal judicial admissions, once made (repeatedly) & signed each time by no less than Respd's own counsels, settles the admitted issue (s) as fact(s) from there forward, **regardless**.

### ARGUMENTS

Sec: 1 of 6: THE COURT ERR TO DENY APPELLANT'S SUMMARY MOTION ON HIS (VICARIOUS LIABILITY) GROSS NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST RESPONDENTS

#### Review Standard-De Novo

(Helpful 1<sup>st</sup> judicial admissions to remember Respd's admit renting truck to Reginald Morton (R. p. 34)

(& Reginald Morton too-admit-himself that he rented subject u-haul truck from Respd's (R. p. 39):

**Paragraph 1-A:** Apln't sued Respd's vicariously under (1).gross negligence claim for \$175,700 property (R. pp. 1166-1172) & emotional-manifesting into physical (R. pp. 1184-1208) damages-cause by Reginald Morton because Respd's ("Stop "N" Save, inc. d/b/a El Cheapo Plus #7 & Roy Rahal-hereafter Respd's &/ or Rahal") intentionally rented Reginald Morton a U-Haul truck, with no driver's license, (R. pp. 210-211), with which he came & intentionally tried to destroy Aplnt's rental house (R. pp. 41-43 & 1166-1172) & Rahal knew he had no driv.'s license which Rahal *judicial admit* in sworn interro. (R. p. 1147 L.7-8) & *judicially admit* **again** in sworn depo. (R. p. 210 L.3-5 & 211 L.13-15) & Rahal *judicially admit* knowing Reginald Morton forge-sign Odell Morton's name on the U-Haul truck rental documents ( R. pp. 919-927 & R. pp. 290-291) (& forgery a felony under SC law w/ up to 10 year prison sentence for the perpetrator-s & all those involved (sc sec. 16-13-10) re sec. 3-G on p.18); & that all of Rahal's, (*Formal Judicial Admissions*), made them established fact from there forward, & as such, could not later be changed &/or contradicted at / in a motion for summary judgment

or at a trial; notwithstanding any other Respd's argument(s); & That in pertinent part-In-Barnes v. Michelotti, 237 Ill. App. 3d 923, 932, 604, N.E.2d 1144, 1151 (2d Dist. 1992) the court held that judicial admissions "withdraw a fact from issue" thus can't be contradicted; because, that would be subversive of all sound practice & tend largely to defeat the ends of justice, if the court should refuse to accept a fact as settled, which is distinctly admitted. Likewise in the case of; Zegarowicz v. Ripatti, 77 A.D.3d 650, 911 NY S2d 69 (2d Dep't 2009)-NY Supr. Court held that, "[F]acts admitted by a party's pleadings constitute--Formal Judicial Admissions. Thus-all Resp'd Rahal's formal judicial admissions, as a matter of law, was settled, & on that basis--but certainly not limited thereto, it was Apln't who was entitled to summary judgment & not Respd's, but for the prejudicial & reversible court err, Apln't argues; & judicial admissions contain in pleadings may be used to support summary judgment--see--Underhill v. Jefferson County Appraisal District, 725 S.W. 2d 301 (Tex. App. Beaum't 1987); & formal judicial admissions "withdraws a fact from issue" & thus may not be contradicted by the party or its witnesses-Knauerbaze v. Nelson, 361 Ill. App. 3d 538, 557-58, 836 N.E.2d 640, 658 (1<sup>st</sup> Dist. 2005). As one Illinois Appeals Court has held, a "party may contradict a judicial admission neither with his own contrary testimony nor that of other witness." Caponi v. Larry's 66, 236 Ill. App.3d 660, 671, 601 N.E.2d 1347, 1355 (2d Dist. 1992). **That the purpose of the rule is to remove the temptation from a party & their witnesses etc. to commit perjury-re-p. 21 and 32.**

**Paragraph 1-B:** That as to the 4 NEGLIGENCE elements to recover; (& GROSSNESS FOR PUNITIVE):

1st NEGLIGENCE element--that as to the 1st element--the court correctly acknowledged the Respd's duty to Apln't (R. p. 5 L. 16-17) satisfying 1st element; [more clearer tho--the duty owed Apln't by Respd's. was--a legal common law duty by operation of law--not to endanger (the public) Apln't &/or his property by renting vehicles to unlicensed persons see: sc. sec. 56-1-580 & 56-1-500] Apln't argues; & Respd's. arguing they had no such

Duty here, is to argue that; you can rent to unlicensed persons, all day long—*every day*--& they can then go & kill, maim, &/ or tear up—whatever—without fear of any liability to the renter, because they can then argue they had no duty to do otherwise, Apln't argues; & that Respds' argument ( Order: R. p. 15 #1 ) seems untenable to—on public policy grounds, notwithstanding its illegality & criminality (sc-56-1-580; 56-1-440; 56-1-500; 56-1-20 & 56-1-620) Apln't argues; & that also—both the Resp'd Roy Rahal, & Reginald Morton, had **same combined** legal duty owed to Apln't, *to not* do as stated above, Apln't argues; (note: Resp'd's. being sued vicariously for all Reginald Morton conduct & resulting damages because they rented him the truck 1.wd/no license; 2.knew he had none; 3.did it intentionally; & 4.oversaw Reginald Morton forge—sign Odell Morton's name on the U-Haul truck rental documents to make it appear—bed ridden—dying sick—Odell Morton (Aff'd: R. p. 1176 & see para 4 on p. 2 above) had been there & did it—all admitted by Rahal's own stated judicial admissions) &

2nd NEGLIGENCE element—that as to the 2nd element—finding by the court that the duty was not breached by Respondents ( Order: R. p. 16 #2 ) **but** in light of para. 1-A thru 1-B above; it seems quite obvious that Resp'd's combine with Reginald Morton to breach said duty in violating sc. law: 56-1-580, which makes it—criminally—unlawful for a person to “authorize” or “knowingly permit” a vehicle “under his control” to be driven, by a person not authorized to do so in “violation” of the motor vehicle statute, & see—all other similar sc. sec.'s violated by Resp'd Rahal & Reginald Morton (see: 5<sup>th</sup> L this p.) all “combining &/or concurred” to result in **all** Aplnt's proven damages (R. pp. 928-943, 963-987, 1184-1201, & 1208), & thus Respds' clearly indeed—did breached their duty as stated in para.1-B

1st negligence element para. above et al. etc., Apln't argues; & remember Resp'd Rahal have judicially admitted it all—beginning “Feb. 11, 2014” & signed by his own counsels beginning “Feb. 11, 2014”—see—( R. p. 34 & R. pp. 210 —211 ), Apln't argues; &

3rd NEGLIGENCE element--that re the 3rd element, that Apln't suffered injury & damages, neither of which was disputed by Respd's at sum. hearing, & thus both, admitted; & even if it wasn't, it was obvious & proven (R. pp. 41-43 & R. p. 48-55 & R. p. 928-943 & R. p. 963-987 & R. p. 1184-1201 & R. p. 1208 & R. p. 210-211 & R. p. 301) Apln't argues, &;

4th NEGLIGENCE element--that re the 4th element--the injury & damages was proximately caused by Respd's' breach of their duty beginning under para. 1-B on bottom p. 5; the proximate cause is obvious, because, without their said & subject breach, Reginald Morton couldn't have rented a truck from nobody to commit the said, shown, & proven injury & damages with; having no driver's license to rent with, Appellant argues; &;

*5th GROSSNESS--that as to the grossness of the negligence, it too is quite obvious because Respd Rahal, again, judicially admitted, that he intentionally rented Reginald Morton a truck knowing he had no license (as stated/shown); violating sc criminal laws (stated on p. 6), & thus, as a matter of law, the grossness is assumed &/or is self-evident (R. pp. 210-211), Apln't argues; &/or, whether one's actions is grossly negligent is for a jury to decide, unless the evidence, as above & throughout herein & in the ROA, supports only one reasonable inference, re: Clyburn v. Sumter County School District 17, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (1994).*

**Paragraph 1-C:** That as to Aplnt's, *property damages total loss \$175,700 +*, sought under his gross negligence claim--these damages was proven (R. pp. 1166-1174 et al) &/ or not denied by Respd's & thus was admitted &/ or was a jury issue at a minimum, & based on the foregoing, to award Respd's' & deny Aplnt's summary, both were reversible court err, Apln't argues; &;

**Paragraph 1-D:** That as to Aplnt's, *emotional—manifesting into physical damages*, sought under his gross negligence claim, these damages was not denied by Respd's, &/or was proven, &/or was supported by the evidence in (R. pp. 48-54 & 1184-1201 & 1208) & as to amount of medical bills (R. pp. 171 & 963-987) & any amount for pain & suffering (*a jury question*) at minimum & based on the foregoing--to award Respds' & deny Aplnt's summary--both were court err--Apln't argues--&;

**Paragraph 1-E:** That as to Aplnt's, *punitive damages*, sought under his gross negligence claim, the liability for these damages was admitted--see Rahal's *judicial admissions* (R. pp. 210-211 et al.), after which--punitive damages amount was (*a jury question*) at minimum & based on the foregoing, to award Respds' & deny Aplnt's summary, both were court err, Apln't argues; &;

**Paragraph 1-F:** That all the documentations, arguments, exh.'s, etc., that Apln't put forth in support of summary on his gross negli'g. claim are listed on this hear. ex.'s list (R. pp. 156-320 & 928-1201) &;

**Paragraph 1-G:** That in light of paragraphs 1-A thru 1-F above, taken in any parts or as a whole, & viewed in light most favorable to Respd's, it's clear it supports but one reasonable conclusion, which is, Apln't should've been awarded summary vicarious liability on his gross negligence cause of action, plus the undisputed actual property damages, (\$175, 700.00 + : R. pp. 1166-1174), & a jury trial to determine 1<sup>st</sup>) the amount of injury damages & 2<sup>nd</sup>) the amount of punitive damages, & neither was done due to, prejudicial & reversible court err, Apln't argues; & also; [That Summary Judgment is appropriate also when, "plain palpable, & indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ",--see--Byerly v. Connor, 307 S.C. 441, 445, S.E.2d 796, 799 (1992); \_\_\_\_\_ (End Section 1 of 6; & ; Begin Section 2 of 6);

Sec: 2 of 6: THE COURT ERR TO DENY APPELLANT'S SUMMARY MOTION ON HIS  
(VICARIOUS LIABILITY) IIED CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANTS:

Review Standard--De Novo

**Paragraph 2-A:** Apln't sued Respd's vicariously for IIED for \$25,000,000. 00 +; for resulting damages (re: para. 2-A--2-M: & R. pp. 928-943) & (iied damages ongoing to date: R. pp. 1184-1201 & 1208); because Respd's intentionally rented Reginald Morton a U-Haul truck w/no driv.'s license (R. pp. 210-211), with which Reginald Morton came & intentionally destroyed Aplnt's rental house (R. pp. 1140-1139) & in the process committed the initial IIED on Apln't (R. p. 1173 & 1165) & Rahal knew Reginald Morton had no driver's license—which Rahal, judicially admit, in his sworn interrog. (stated / shown before) & judicially admit again in sworn depo. (stated / shown before) & Rahal judicially admit knowing Reginald Morton forge—sign, Odell Morton's name, on the U-Haul truck rental documents (R. pp. 290-291—& forgery a felony-see-argument in para. 3-G below) &; Rahal judicially admit he was aware of Aplnt's suffering from Morton actions (R. pp. 269-271) & so like under Aplnt's gross negligence claim, Respd's are vicariously liable for all Aplnt's damages suffered under the IIED claim as well—Apln't argues—if the 4 IIED elements were proven at summary; & that they were, Apln't argues; & here's the testimony / proof—in the record;

**Paragraph 2-B:** That as to the 4 IIED elements to recover; (& THE TRAUMA FOR THE PUNITIVE):

1st IIED element—Respd's vicariously, (i.e. Reginald Morton initially), intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress or was certain or substantially certain such distress would result from his conduct (R. pp. 1193-1196, *esp. para. 7 p. 1194*; & R. pp. 1165 & 1173) the testimony / proof, Appellant argues &;

2nd IIED element--The conduct was so extreme, & outrageous, so as to exceed all possible bounds of decency & must be regarded as atrocious, & utterly intolerable, in a civilized community, which conduct would cause an average member of the community, to immediately react in outrage (R. p. 1165 & 1173-4 & p. 951 & 2-D below) the testimony/proof Apln't argues &

3rd IIED element--The actions of Respd's combined w/ that of (Reginald Morton's) caused Apln't emotional distress (R. pp. 48-54; 928-943; & 1208) the testimony/proof Apln't argues &

4th IIED element--The distress suffered was severe such that no reasonable man or woman could be expected to endure it (R. pp. 1184-1201 & 1208) the testimony/proof Apln't argue &

"5th TRAUMA": re: Tudor v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 506 S.E.2d 554, 573-76 (W. Va. 1977) when emotional distress is accompanied by physical trauma, punitive damages too, may be awarded on an IIED claim (R. pp. 48-54 and 928-943 & 963-987 & 1184-1201 & 1208 & p.1194 para. 8-9 ) the proof, Appellant argues &;

**Paragraph 2-C:** re in--Padget v. Colonial Wholesale Distributing Co., 232 S.C. 593, 103 S.E. (2d) 265 (1958), we affirm recovery of damages for shock, fright, & emotional upset despite the absence of any physical impact between the plaintiff & defendant. In that case, plaintiff alleged that his skin rash resulted from his emotional distress proximately caused, when the truck of defendant collided with plaintiff's house; & in relations to Aplnt's (R. pp. 48-54; 928-943; 963-987; 1184-1201 & 1208) &;

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