THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

JUN 13 2016

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable George C. James, Jr., Judicial Circuit Court Judge  
Case No.: 2012-CP-08-1801

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002481

---

Charles Taylor ..... Appellant,

v.

Stop "N" Save, Inc., d/b/a El Cheapo Plus #7 and  
Roy Rahal. .... Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Gray T. Culbreath  
James. E. Brogdon, III  
Jessica A. Waller  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.  
1201 Main Street, Suite 1200  
Post Office Box 7368(29202)  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 779-1833 (t)  
(803) 779-1767 (f)

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

Thus, the circuit court properly held that because claims for vicarious liability are barred by the Graves Amendment, Appellant's vicarious negligence claims against Respondents fail. The circuit court's holding should be affirmed.

***ii. The Circuit Court Properly Held that Appellant's Claim of Gross Negligence Fails as a Matter of Law.***

Because the Graves Amendment preempts any alleged vicarious liability on the part of Respondents, Appellant must prove that Respondents were independently negligent in causing his damages. As discussed in section a, *infra*, Appellant's newfound arguments regarding a direct negligence claim are not preserved for appellate review. In any event, the circuit court properly held that Appellant's claim for gross negligence fails as a matter of law. To the extent these claims are even before this Court, this holding

---

<sup>13</sup> The competent evidence in the record refutes the assertions that Reginald Morton or Dana Goins drove the U-Haul Truck and that the U-Haul Truck hit Appellant's rental house, causing damage. However, even if such allegations were actually in dispute, the veracity of such is not necessary to resolve the issue, as the Graves Amendment clearly preempts vicarious liability in such situations.

should be affirmed.

**a. Appellant's Arguments Regarding Respondents' Negligence are Not Preserved.**

As discussed in Section I, *supra*, Appellant's arguments regarding his gross negligence claim are not preserved. Appellant raises arguments regarding Respondents' independent negligence, including reference to the four required elements, for the first time on Appeal. In his memorandums to the circuit court, Appellant failed to argue with any specificity that Respondents were negligent. Instead, Appellant focused on his "vicarious liability" negligence claim. In an abundance of caution, Respondents' briefed arguments in opposition to a negligence claim, and the circuit court ruled on the issue. However, Appellant was required to file a motion to alter or amend the circuit court's ruling in order to preserve his arguments regarding negligence. For this Court to have "a platform for meaningful appellate review," *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011), the circuit court must have had the opportunity *for each theory advanced by Appellant* "to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments," *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Where a party raises an issue, but the issue is never ruled on by the trial court, and the party fails to file a motion to alter or amend, the issue is not preserved. *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Group*, 347 S.C. 333, 544 S.E.2d 870 (Ct. App. 2001).

Appellant's failure to raise these newly formulated arguments is fatal to his appeal on the issue, and as such, the arguments regarding negligence are not preserved and the circuit court's order should be affirmed.

**b. The Circuit Court Properly Found that Appellant's Gross Negligence Claim was Barred as a Matter of Law.**

“To establish a negligence cause of action under South Carolina law, the plaintiff must prove the following three elements: (1) a duty of care owed by defendant to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach of duty.” *J.T. Baggerly v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 370 S.C. 362, 368-69, 635 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2006) (citations omitted). Gross negligence has been defined as “the failure to exercise a slight degree of care” and “when a person is so indifferent to the consequences of his conduct as not to give slight care as to what he is doing.” *Clark v. South Carolina Dept. of Public Safety*, 362 S.C. 377, 382, 608 S.E.2d 573, 576 (2005) (citations omitted).

“In a negligence action, the court must determine, as a matter of law, whether the defendant owed a duty of care to the plaintiff.” *Huggins v. Citibank, N.A.*, 355 S.C. 329, 332 585 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2003) (citing *Faile v. South Carolina Dept. of Juvenile Justice*, 350 S.C. 315, 566 S.E.2d 536 (2002)). “If there is no duty, the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Id.* (citing *Simmons v. Tuomey Regional Med. Ctr.*, 341 S.C. 32, 533 S.E.2d 312 (2000)). “A tortfeasor's duty arises from his relationship to the injured party.” *Ravan v. Greenville Cnty.*, 315 S.C. 447, 434 S.E.2d 296 (1993) (quoting *South Carolina State Ports Authority v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 373, 376, 346 S.E.2d 324, 325-26 (1986)). “Where this relationship is ‘too attenuated,’ a duty will not arise.” *Id.* (citing *South Carolina State Ports Authority*, 289 S.C. at 377, 346 S.E.2d at 326.)

The only reasonable inference from the evidence presented is that Respondents

owed no duty to Appellant in these circumstances. The Amended Complaint does not allege and Appellant has not proven or set forth any evidence tending to prove that any special relationship existed between Appellant and Respondents either through contract, statute, or otherwise that would give rise to a duty owed to Appellant under these circumstances. Rather, Appellant's entire case is based upon his bald assertions, unsupported by any evidence, that Respondents rented a U-Haul rental truck to Reginald Morton, an individual without a driver's license. (R. p. 28). Thus, there is absolutely no evidence in the record demonstrating a duty owed by Respondents to Appellant.

Moreover, even assuming *arguendo* such a duty existed, which is denied, the circuit court properly found that Appellant's gross negligence claim nevertheless fails because Appellant failed to produce any evidence that Respondents breached any duty owed to Appellant. (R. pp. 16-17).

The record is devoid of any credible, admissible, and competent evidence demonstrating Respondents rented a U-Haul rental truck to an individual without a driver's license. The Rental Agreement and official records of the Maryland Department of Motor Vehicles demonstrate Respondents rented the U-Haul Truck to Odell Morton, who possessed and presented a facially valid driver's license. In fact, the license numbers on both documents are the same. (R. pp. 1034; 1180-82). Moreover, Respondent Rahal testified that he rented the U-Haul Truck to Odell Morton as the licensed driver. (R. pp. 748; 764-68). While Appellant harps on the fact that the Rental Agreement lists Reginald Morton as a party to the Rental Agreement, the Rental Agreement also shows, just as Respondent Rahal's testimony confirms, Odell Morton signed the Rental Agreement and presented a facially valid Maryland driver's license to

Respondent Rahal at the time of the rental transaction, while Reginald Morton paid for the rental. (R. pp. 748; 764-68). Furthermore, it is undisputed that Appellant was not present at Respondent El Cheapo when the rental transaction took place. Appellant presented no evidence that the procedure followed by Respondents violated any law, and more importantly, no evidence that Respondent breached any duty owed to Appellant, to the extent he hypothetically proved one existed. Furthermore, even assuming *arguendo* that Appellant could prove that Respondents rented a U-Haul rental truck to an unlicensed driver, which he cannot, he failed to introduce any evidence below demonstrating how Respondents' alleged actions violated any duty owed to Appellant.

In light of the utter lack of evidence to support Appellant's claims of the existence of a duty or breach thereof, the circuit court properly found that no genuine issue of material fact exists as to Appellant's gross negligence claim. Thus, Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on the gross negligence claim and the circuit court should be affirmed.

***iii. To the Extent Appellant's Claim is Considered a Negligent Entrustment Claim, the Circuit Court Properly Granted Respondents Summary Judgment.***

In an abundance of caution, Respondents argued that even if Appellant's gross negligence claim was a misguided attempt to bring a negligent entrustment action, the claim nevertheless failed. As discussed in section a, *infra*, Appellant disclaimed this cause of action for negligent entrustment at the hearing and in his initial brief. In any event, the circuit court properly held that Appellant's claim for gross negligence failed because there was no evidence in the record to support the claim, and thus no genuine issue of material fact. To the extent this claim is even before this Court, this holding

should be affirmed.

**a. Appellant has Abandoned and/or Conceded the Circuit Court's Grant of Summary Judgment as to the Negligent Entrustment Interpretation of the Gross Negligence Claim.**

Initially, Appellant has abandoned any argument related to circuit court's alternative ruling granting summary judgment to Respondents even if Appellant's gross negligence claim was determined to be a negligent entrustment claim. An issue is not preserved for appellate consideration if it has been conceded in the trial court. *State v. Benton*, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000); *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 3311 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998) (an issue conceded in the trial court cannot be argued on appeal).

At the summary judgment hearing, Appellant stated "I didn't bring entrustment because I don't know how the law [sic] they pushed that in there because I hear and keep talking about negligent entrustment, but that's not the charge I brought. I brought gross negligence. (R. p. 694, lines 17–22). Further, Appellant reinforces his abandonment of the negligent entrustment claim in his brief, stating "Appellant has made it clear all along and in his amended complaint and at the hearing, that he brought no [negligent entrustment] cause of action." (App. Br. p. 28). Thus, it is clear Appellant has abandoned this claim. In light of the clear application of the Graves Amendment and the failure of Appellant's common law gross negligence claim, his abandonment of the direct liability claim of negligent entrustment is fatal to his entire lawsuit. *See Judy v. Judy*, 384 S.C. 634, 682 S.E.2d 836 (Ct. App. 2009) (refusing to address conclusory arguments which are considered abandoned).

**b. The Circuit Court Properly Found the Negligent Entrustment Claim Failed and Should be Affirmed.**

To the extent the Court wishes to address the merits of the circuit court's holding regarding negligent entrustment, the holding was proper and should be affirmed. In order to prove a negligent entrustment claim in South Carolina, a party must prove: "(1) knowledge of or knowledge imputable to the owner that the driver was either addicted to intoxicants or had the habit of drinking, (2) that the owner knew or had imputable knowledge that the driver was likely to drive while intoxicated and (3) under these circumstances, the entrustment of a vehicle by the owner to such a driver." *Jones ex rel. Jones v. Enterprise Leasing Company-Southeast*, 383 S.C. 259, 264, 678 S.E.2d 819, 822 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *McAllister v. Graham*, 287 S.C. 455, 458, 339 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct. App. 1986)).

Appellant submitted no evidence to support any of the essential elements of a negligent entrustment claim. Specifically, Appellant produced no evidence regarding the actual ownership of the vehicle, no evidence tending to indicate that Respondents possessed knowledge that the driver of the U-Haul Truck was addicted to intoxicants or had a habit of drinking, and no evidence that the Respondents knew or should have known that the driver was likely to drive while intoxicated. Moreover, Appellant failed to submit any evidence to show that Reginald Morton was the lessee of the U-Haul Truck. Instead, the record evidence demonstrates that Respondent El Cheapo actually rented the U-Haul Truck to Odell Morton as the driver, not Reginald Morton or Dana Goins. Reginald Morton merely paid for the rental of the U-Haul Truck. The evidence also shows that Odell Morton possessed a valid driver's license at the time of the rental

transaction.

As the circuit court found, Appellant simply failed to present evidence to create a disputed material fact. (R. p. 18). Moreover, though the circuit court refused to unequivocally rule on the scope of a negligent entrustment claim, the Supreme Court has expressly declined to expand the cause of action to circumstances beyond intoxicants and/or drinking. *See Gadson v. ECO Servs. of S.C., Inc.*, 374 S.C. 171, 176-177, 648 S.E.2d 585, 2007 (2007) (“We decline to adopt sections 308 and 390 of the Restatement [which extend liability to other circumstances].”). Thus, this Court should find that Appellant’s allegations, even if taken as true, do not support a claim of negligent entrustment as a matter of law. *See Upchurch v. New York Times*, 314 S.C. 531, 538, 431 S.E.2d 558, 562 (1993) (“We may affirm the trial judge for any reason appearing in the record.”) (citing Rule 220(c), SCACR)). No allegation is even suggested that the driver of the U-Haul Truck (Odell Morton) or anybody else for that matter, used intoxicants and/or was using alcohol at the time of the rental transaction of the U-Haul Truck (the only relevant time for a claim of this nature); instead the allegations solely relate to Reginald Morton not having a driver’s license at the time of the rental transaction.

Therefore, the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment to Respondents on this claim, to the extent it can be construed as negligent entrustment, was proper and should be affirmed.

***iv. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Respondents Summary Judgment Regarding Appellant’s IIED Claim.***

The circuit court properly held that Appellant’s claim for IIED failed as there was no evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact. Moreover, Appellant’s new

arguments regarding the IIED claim are not preserved for review. To the extent this claim is even before this Court, this holding should be affirmed.

**a. Appellant's Arguments Regarding IIED are Not Preserved for Appeal.**

Seemingly for the first time on appeal, Appellant attempts to couch his IIED claim in terms of vicarious liability, essentially arguing that Respondents are vicariously liable for the actions of non-employee customer Reginald Morton. While this attempt is unsupported by the law or facts of this case, it is also not preserved for this Court's review. Furthermore, at no point below did Appellant address the elements of an IIED cause of action with the circuit court. As discussed in section I, *supra*, matters not raised to and ruled upon are not preserved for this Court's review. *See State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (holding that only issues "fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court" can be appealed) (internal quotations omitted)).

The circuit court did not have the opportunity to rule on each theory advanced by Appellant, and "to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (noting a party cannot hold "ace card[s] up [his] sleeve - intentionally or by chance - in the hope that an appellate court will accept th[ose] ace card[s] and, via a reversal, give [his] another opportunity to prove [his] case"); *see also State v. McCray*, 332 S.C. 536, 506 S.E.2d 301 (1998) (noting where the appellate argument differs from the ground for a party's trial objection, the issue is not preserved for review).

**b. The Circuit Court's Holding That Appellant's IIED Claim Fails As a Matter of Law Was Proper And Should Be Affirmed.**

To the extent the Court finds Appellant's arguments appropriate, the circuit court's holding that Appellant's IIED claim failed as a matter of law was proper and should be affirmed. In order to recover for IIED under South Carolina law, a plaintiff must establish that:

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